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INTRODUCTION

The James A. Garfield National Historic Site was authorized by Congress in December, 1980.
Following this authorization, the National Park Service undertook several studies concerning the
history of the site and the condition and evolution of the main house, also known as "Lawnfield."
The Historic Structure Report for Lawnfield was prepared by Paul Newman of the NPS Denver
Service Center and was published in November 1990. Unfortunately, time constraints prevented
detailed study of two areas of interest; the first floor Kitchen and the second floor Bathroom. This
report presents the findings regarding the original construction and alteration to these areas.

This HSR Supplement was prepared by Robert Mack of MacDonald and Mack Architects, Ltd., under
subcontract with van Dijk, Pace, Westlake + Partners, the primary consultants to the National Park
Service for restoration of the site. Documentary research and historical analyses were prepared by
Charlene Roise of Hess, Roise and Company. Physical investigations were conducted on October 16-
18 and 24-26 and on December 12-15, 1990; documentary research was conducted in October 1990.

Although the Genera! Management Plan and the Interpretive Plan both indicate that the main house
should be restored to the 1885/86 appearance, they do not provide specific guidance concerning
restoration of the Kitchen or Bathroom. This HSR Supplement is intended to provide the information
necessary for designers and interpretive specialists to incorporate these interesting areas into the
overall plan for Lawnfield. '

Little documentary information is available concerning either the Kitchen or the Bathroom.
Conclusions concerning the original appearance and evolution of these areas are, therefore, based
primarily on physical investigations. Neither area provides sufficient evidence to permit a highly
accurate restoration of the space. The Bathroom and adjacent areas do, however, provide sufficient
evidence to accurately deduce the evolution of the rooms and the placement of the plumbing fixtures.
Several aspects of the kitchen layout also can be determined, but actual arrangement of the stove, ice
box, and other non-fixed items is hypothetical.
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1877

1878

1879

HISTORY OF PHYSICAY, CHANGES

DOCUMENTARY CHRONOLOGY

James A. Garfield bought 40-acre tract from George W. Dickey.

April 14: "The barns have just been moved to the rear, the waterworks are nearly done,
but the general state of chaos opens before us a fine field for work and contnvance We
commenced work, and put up a few beds on the second or roof story."!

"When the Garfields arrived to take possession, on Saturday, April 14, 1877, they found
the house in chaos. A new ‘family room’ was being added at the rear and ‘water
works” were being installed. . . . It was a typical Ohio farmhouse. . . . The roof story
had an attic and two bedrooms. Miss Mays (Aunt Patty to the children), Mollie and
Little Abe were to occupy the room next to the warm attic over the kitchen, and Harry,
Jim, and Irv were to sleep in the east room.

"The first work Garfield did on the structure involved . . . installing new carpets, stove,
and pipes. In 1878, the pipes brmgmg water to the kltchen were overhauled and two
sinks were placed in the new pantry. '

May 3: “Spent the forenoon in overhauling farm affairs . . . Some changes in the water
wor
July 10: "Gen. Garfield returned home on Saturday. . . . He has a pleasant family . . .

They have already organized a cooking club, which meets around at the houses of the
members once in two weeks. Every member is required to bring a dish of her own
cooking and a bit of needlework, upon which they must sew an hour while some one
reads to them; so our young girls are in a fair way to become highly accomplished. "3

August 13: ""On the way here, [ have been reflecting on the subject of our new farm
house, and am strongly inclined to the opinion that we had better mature all our plans
this season and start the building early next spring and [?] completed next year while we
are at Mentor -- and let the dear boys [?] our plans, and the work of construction while
they are with us during the summer vacation. . . . From present appearances we can
build cheaper next spring than at any later time for years to come, Think about the
location you would prefer and I will write A. Bright to send the plans to Mentor, "6

August 14: "I intend to take the time to examine some of the cottages here with a view
of getting hints for our new house, which is becoming a growing reality with me."”

September 2: "I hope you will take notice of houses and their [?] plans, and bring me
any suggestions that this trip may bring you."®
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1880

September 4: "I have spent the night at the house of Gen. Shepherd, and have found
several things about its construction which it will be well for us to remember, when we
build. Their hall is very like the one you have planned — 12 feet wide, and turns at a
right angle before the stairs begin. . . . The house is heated by steam, and I think it is
the best arrangement I have ever seen - and gives a healthier and more equitable heat
than the furnace. Please remind me of these points when we again resume our
planning. "

September 22: "I want your opinion and judgement on a certain matter of domestic
economy very much. I find that we have neither room nor pans sufficient to take care
of all the milk. Moreover, I find the best butter makers are abandoning the ¢ld methods
and adopting the use of coolers for gathering cream. Now if we are going to have an
[?] dairy we must make butter; and we must make the best possible. now my query is
will it not be cheaper in the end to begin this Fall on the new plan? Buy a set of
coolers — which I am told will cost in the neighborhood of twenty dollars — and have
the use this Fall."!0

House enlarged to two and one-half stories at a cost of approximately $4,000.

February 8: "I hope to find time to get away to Ohio for a few days to look after some
repairs to my house at Mentor."!!

February 26: "After breakfast we all went to our house and spent the afternoon in
making a careful examination of the frame of it and dewsmg the best means for raising
the upper story and making repairs."!12

February 27: At half-past nine o’clock Mr, Judd came and we completed our plans for
the repair of the house. He will have a draft made and sent to us for approval."?

March 4: "Gen. Garfield made a flying business trip to his home in Mentor last week .
. His visit to his farm was a necessity concerning the erection of some new
buildings." 14

March 116: "Today getting [?] lumber window frames and other lumber for the inside
work."”

March 26 and April 2: Statement from "S. Wood & Sons, Contractors & Sewer
Builders," Cleveland, for various pipes and fittings including "56 ps. 6 Pipe” and "8 - 3
Pipe."!6 [See HP-97)

April 5: Frelght bill from the Lake Shore & Mlchlgan Southern Railway Company
includes 56 pieces 6" pipe and 8 pieces 3" pipe.!”

April 7: "I feel that there is the more need of care on your part as I see that the town
of Mentor is agog with your new house. "%

April 11: "Spent several hours in examining the progress of the work and making such
changes as the situation required. nl
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April 12: "Train to Cleveland in company with the Doctor [presumably Robison].
Spent the afternoon in examining mantels and house fixtures. Purchased two
stoves. 20

April 13: Bill from J. E. Hall, Cleveland, "Dealer in Parlor and Cooking Stoves of
Every Variety, House warming and ventilating furnaces,” for "1 S. H. Stewart stove
$17.00, 1 open front wood stove $12.00, 1 S, H. tin warming closet."! [See HP-97]

April 15: Freight bill from the Lake Shore & Michigan Southern Railway Company
includes two stoves, one "tin closet,” one "reservoir, "2

April 15: "Our trip was devoted to directing repairs on our house at Mentor. "2

April 15: “Gen. Garfield’s house is building rapidly, and will be ready for plastering in
about a week. 24

April 19: "Judd thinks he would have the Rooms all plain and square at the top. . . .
We have started at the Old House -- terrible. Small {?] all caved in where there was
plank in part and boards in {?] [?] stone wall. The [?] or the underpinning [?] are more
rotten blocks. Sills much rotten. I shall do the best I can and repair it. Underpinning
with stones. Raising where it is sunken. "%

April 20: "The west end is making I see some trouble. It is a scantling frame and the
plates are not high enough for the raise. This will be overcome perhaps at the cost of
the chamber floor in that portion."2%

April 30: "I have indulged [?] ;}auttmg in French glass in the windows which will cost
say $15 extra over American."

May 3 [Washington, D.C.]: "Went shopping with Crete [LRG] to make some
purchases for curtain stuff for windows at Mentor. "2

May 3: "The house is finished except what is to be done after the plastering which will
be the chinck [sic) coats and the brown one."2?

May 6: "The plastering chinck [sic] coat and the brown are all on and a good job. . . .
This morning they commence to put on the putty or white coat first in the Bonnite and
through and along down as it is dry. . . . Window sash all ﬁn_ished.”3°

May 7: "The measure from the floor to top of window casing first floor 9 feet 4
inches. Second floor 8 feet 6 inches."3!

May 8, 15, 21: Statement from J. W. Penfield, Willoughby, includes purchases of 595
6-inch tlle and 600 2-1/2-inch tile (May 8); 230 6-inch tile (May 15); and 650 2-1/2-
inch tile (May 21).3

May 19: "The inside painting has only the priming on. The woodwork is nearly
finished down to the lower story, "33
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May 21: "The ram is not yet finished, but the [?] is at work on it now and the Doctor
says he thinks they are getting a perfect piece of draining. "3

May 21: "We must think carefully on the questlon whether to put the family into a
house so recently plastered and painted. "3

May 24: Freight blll from the Lake Shore & Michigan Southern Railway Company
includes one sink.>

May 27: "Total cost of repairs will reach $4,000, perhaps a little more."*’

May 28: "At noon Crete and T went to Cleveland and spent four hours in making
purchases, arranging for mantels, hearths, furniture, etc.”

May 29: "You know that my heart is with you in your struggle to bring order out of
our house of your planning.*?

May 30: "I barely managed to get the hall exaétly measured and a diagram made out
for Sterling before it was time to post it. . . . The carpenters are pretty well through. . .
. Yesterday we put up beds in the attic and the girls staid there last night. "40

May 30: Freight bill from the Lake Shore & Michigan Southern Railway Company
includes one bathtub and one "box marble,"#!

June 1: Bill from Myers, Uhl & Co., wholesale marble dealers, Cleveland, for "1 Ital.
shelf 4.9 x 1.0 $5.00)*

June 1: "The plumbers are here today putting in bath-tub and sink. "43

June 4: "We -- I mean the painters and carpenters — are putting the finishing touches
on fast now."*

September 13: Freight bill from the Lake Shore & Michigan Southern Railway
Company includes "1 Bkyr.[Buckeye] Pump, a sec. gas pipe, 2 sewer elbows, 2 sewer
traps, 2 sewer pipes.”

September 17: Bill from J. W. Penfield dated 10/2/80 for "Cast man hole plate. "4

September 17: "John Gawn[e] of Cleveland came to build cistern for cesspool and lay
pipes for the escape of roof water."%’

September 18: "At noon . . . John Gawne had finished his work."4®

November 17: "Drove to the stove store and bought some stoves."4®

Dece?('llber 8: "Pipe leading from my ram to the tank is frozen and the water supply cut
off.”
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December 19: "After dinner I went to Dr. Robison’s and closed our long account of
housebuilding. ">

Bills and receipts from 1880 included in The James A. Garfield Papers provide a good
deal of information about items probably used for the addition’s construction, including

lumber sizes and various types of finishes. [See HP-98 through HP-100] Among the
things for which freight bills were received are many barrels of nails, much
lumber(mostly pine), window frames, brackets, barrels of Louisville cement, a "Jack
screw,” balusters, a newel post and stair rail, doors, and boxes of glass.52

"The cottage that stood upon the place when the General purchased it proved altogether
too small and barren of conveniences. A Cleveland architect was employed for the
metamorphosis. He decided that the walls could be raised and the building enlarged
without pulling it down. It was then rebuilt from plans prepared by Mrs. Garfield, that
is, in this way: A sketch was first drawn by the architect; this Mrs. Garfield filled out
and then the general marked in various directions with a bold pen."53

"The dimensions are sixty feet front by fifty deep. . . . The first floor contains a hall,
with a large writing-table, a sitting-room, parlor, dining-room, kitchen, washroom and
pantry. The last on the plan bears the generous endorsement ‘plenty of shelves and
drawers.”">*

"When they [Garfield’s sons] returned in July, 1880, they scarcely recognized their
home. A full second story had been built in, and a third story added.”

"Generally, the first level is framed with 3-inch by 4-inch poplar studs, 14-15 inches on
center, with 2-inch by 4-inch fir studs interspersed (see plates SP-5 and SP-6). Studs
are lap spliced at the second level to 2-inch by 4-inch fir studs and notched around the
2-inch thick ledger board which supports the second-floor framing (see appendix G,
Calculations, Fig. 1). The interior face sheathing is exterior shiplapped siding, placed
horizontally in rooms 104 and 103, which probably was surplus material after the house
was enclosed. The remainder of the interior sheathing is 1-inch by 10-inch or 1-inch by
12-inch on a 45 [-degree] angle. The interior plaster and lath is attached to 1-inch by 2-
inch ﬁmisrég strips which run vertically at 1-foot centers (see appendix G, Calculations,
Fig. 2)." '

"Plaster is the preponderate wall and ceiling surface material used in the house. All of
the pl;ster in both the 1880 portion of the house and the 1885 addition is on sawn
lath.”

"Nearly all of the wall and ceiling surfaces in the house that are not finished wood have
wall coverings of paper, burlap, or canvas. This appears to be the case from the
construction of the house in 1880 and continued on in the 1885 addition and thereafter.
The interior finish analysis revealed that no paint was found underneath any of the
papers, indicating that the walls were always sheathed with wall papers . . .
Unfortunately, it appears that all of the historic papers were stripped in 1936 when the
rooms were repapered. . . . Some rooms were papered again in 1963, without stripping
off the previous papt.ar."s8
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1885

“The original appearance of the 1880 and 1885 interior natural pine woodwork was a
rich, dark, reddish, smooth, glossy finish. It was good enough to fool the journalists of
the 1880s as one remarked that ‘the rooms are finished in hardwoods.” It is still
possible to see the original finish in some of the smaller recesses of the moulding where

‘it was difficult to remove {(ca. 1936-44 (7)). The best remaining example of this finish

is in room 116 in the closet at the south west corner. It did not deteriorate or get
stripped in this protected place, as it did at other locations. "*®

Under "Missing Cabinetry:" "Room 214, Bathroom. Located on north wall; bureau
with drawer for linen storage; design details for cabinet and room need more
research, "60

"Interior doors are generally all wood, raised, four-panel, swinging doors arranged with
the panels in vertical position, two tall ones on top and two shorter ones on the bottom.
. . .In general the interior door hardware of the 1880 period follows this pattern. . . .
All second-floor rooms . . . had plain three knuckle hinges. . . . All doors first and
second floor had mortise locksets/latchsets. . . . All other doors beside front hall doors
had white porcelain knobs."®

"Floors in the 1880 portion of the house are wood, most of which are finished with a
varnish. . . . From the remaining evidence it seems likely that in 1880 all the floors
were pine."82

"The 1880 portion of the house is clad in shiplapped siding directly on the studs. There
is no sheeting or other underlayment material on the exterior side of the studs. The top
of the board has a convex taper creating a shadow when installed. "6

September 19: James A. Garfield dies after being shot on July 2.

November 10: "Mrs. Garfield removed to Cleveland on Monday, where she will pass
the winter, returning to Mentor in the spring. The arrangements for warming the
Mentor residence are not fully completed, and Mrs. Garfield will be more comfortably
situated in the city through the cold season. Mr. J. Rudolf [sic] and family will remain
at the homestead as heretofore."®*

Floor plans for the first and second floors of Lawnfield published in the New York
Herald on September 26, 1881, show a bathroom just west of the entry hall, directly
north of Garfield's bedroom. The plans label the second floor bathroom as a bedroom.
The plans are reproduced in Lawnfield HSR page 210, HP-12. The report notes that
“there are many inaccuracies on these plans.”

Memorial Library addition constructed.
May 5. "Stanley-Brown speculated that if a windmill could be utilized to supplement

the hydraulic ram in the lower field linked to an interior tank, water could be provided
throughout the house even in the coldest winter months. "6



1885

May 16: "Work is not yet begun on the addition to the house. . . . A well is being dug
in the old orchard and a wind-mill is to pump the water for us, the hydraulic ram being
nearly always out of repair, "%

May 17 and 22: "As May, 1885, advanced, Stanley-Brown'’s interest in the Lawnfield
project continue [sic] unabated. He offered many suggestions for state-of-the-art
technological improvements including a gas engine to pump water to a tank in the attic,
observing that ‘you have gas and the water supply is remote.’S” On the 22nd,
Stanley-Brown recommended siting the washroom under the cellar stairs, thus

‘abolishing the wash house,’. . . placing tiles on the kitchen floor . . . circulating hot air
in pipes contained in a shaft covered with a removable board; and installing quality
plumbing, *68

June 4: "Ground has been broken for the new fire proof library, which will stand
between the office building and the late President Garfield’s house. "

July 16: "Mrs. James A. Garfield, including her entire family, have arrived at
Lawnfield. Extensive additions are now being built on the northeast portion of the
house, also expensive improvements are going on in its sanitary works."”®

September 10: "An abundant supply of gas has been found at the Garfield well ample
‘for lighting and heating purposes. Drilling was discontinued several days since when
the last vein was struck at a depth of something over 800 feet. A steam heater will be
used for warming the rooms, JI. Stanley Brown has been for several days a guest of the
Garfields. It is said he may assist in the plan and arrangement of the library room
which is to be in the addition now being made to the residence."”!

October 8: "Mrs. James A. Garfield has offered her Cleveland residence for sale.*72

"The old kitchen has gone and the girls are delighted with the new one, especially the
gas part of it."73 '

"I have no positive recoliection about where the gas pipe goes in from the well but it
seems to me that it must enter the basement almost under the kitchen porch. That part
of the house was built at the same time when the gas well was drilled. The only other
place which occurs to me as possible would be near the entrance to the laundry. This
would be the nearest point to where the old gas meter stood which supplied the pressure
and in that case the pipe going below ground would appear through the floor somewhere
in the neighborhood of the entrance to the laundry. . . . The water tank . . . sections are
cast iro;l4 bolted together rather than riveted as a wrought iron tank would now be
made."

"The Lucretia R. Garfield papers at the Library of Congress contain many receipts and
financial records of the 1885-1886 library construction project. For example, the
lathing and plastering of ‘your Place at Mentor’ cost $171.93. Other bills include
William Judd, ‘Builder and Constructor,” working in the barn; ‘“Working with Plumber
in B. Pantry’ and / Fixing Back Room and Front Service for a total of $59.42."7
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“A strong wind had blown the gas well derrick down in late August."’¢

"When the time came for Hal and Irv to leave for St. Paul’s School, the main structure
of the addition was fairly complete -- the memorial library with its fireproof section, the
new kitchen, laundry, and maids’ rooms."?’

"In 1885, Lucretia commissioned the construction of a major wing to be added to the
rear of Lawnfield to house, primarily, a memorial library dedicated to her husband.
She retained Cleveland architect Forrest A. Coburn to design the addition. Coburn was
senior partner in the firm of Coburn and Barnum (later, Coburn, Barnum, Benes and
Hubbell), which designed the Blackstone Building, the Western Reserve Medical School
Building, Guilford Cottage at Mather College and many Cleveland Public School
buildings. The firm was one of Cleveland’s most prominent and it was natural that
Lucretia would utilize it."’

"Brown [Joseph Stanley Brown, who had served JAG’s personal secretary] suggested
moving the kitchen to the new wing and eliminating entirely the ‘narrow sluiceway’ . . .
The library, in Brown’s plan, would remain on the ground floor . . . Coburn
incorporated many of these ideas into his final plan but placed the library instead on the
second floor . . . [placing] the kitchen on the first floor of a new, ancillary frame
addition, attendant to the library wing."?®

"The first plans left the kitchen in the middle of the enlarged house. It was their mother
who solved the dilemma. At the end of May she wrote to Hal, outlining in detail the
solution she had finally reached, and the addition was built according to her plan. "8

" At the request of Mrs. Garfield, I undertook the task of putting into useable form the
great mass of material accumulated by the General. . . . The material was deposited in a
specially prepared fireproof room at the family home in Mentor, Ohio."8!

"The 1885 addition was balloon framed with 2-inch by 4-inch fir studs spaced at 16-inch
centers. Tongue-and-groove sheathing (1-inch by 4-inch) covered by tapered lap siding
was used on the exterior of the walls. Sawn lath and plaster was directly applied to the
studs on the interior. This was observed in the west wall of room 117 and the south
wall of room 116. . . . The 1885 addition used surfaced lumber for most of the floor
frarning."82

"Chimney 6 once had the 1885/86 kitchen stove(s) connected to it. The stoves were
presumably still in operation as late as the late 1930s. The kitchen was still in its same
location under the first curator, Mrs. Ivan Sutliff."83

"A remnant of wainscoting remains in the closet at the southwest corner that may be
original to this room. It has V-groove paneling in the wainscot. More research into
this area needs to be accomplished in order to determine the original appearance. . . . It
is suspected that there also was a tile wainscot in the kitchen, at least behind the sinks
and maybe by the range. From peering behind the existing paneling on the upper part
of the south wall where the sinks used to be, the ghost of a wainscot cap is evident at 4

10
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feet 2-1/2 inches above the floor, the same height as the wainscot in the butler pantry.
The lower part of this wall has two layers of plaster. The second layer, possibly, was
added to level the wall after tile was removed. More research is required to see if
additional evidence of these wall surfaces can be determined."®

"Additional research in the kitchen is recommended to find the original wall
configuration, finishes, and fixture locations. In order to accomplish this, a
comprehensive investigation should be done, preceded by the removal of the wall-to-wall
carpet, upper paneling on the wall, and the lowered wood ceiling. "33

"Floors in the 1885 portion of the house are wood, tile[,] carpet, or 'concrete."86

"Interior doors in the new addition had decorative steeple hinges and mortise
locksets/latchsets with black porcelain knobs. "87

"A new well was drilled in the old orchard to upgrade the water delivery system. No
precise evidence indicates exactly when the nearby well house was constructed but likely
it was erected in 1885 because this 20- by 20-foot structure resembles the stone library
annex. A windmill placed atop the well house pumped water then moved it to a 300
gallon tank on the upper floor of the main house. . . This system then replaced the
frequently unreliable hydraulic ram Garfield had installed in 1877."58

"The water tank . . . sections are cast iron bolted together rather than riveted as a
wrought iron tank would now be made."%?

"This map denotes the period when the general construction of the wellhouse/windmill,
possibly the gasworks . . . had been completed. A new water well was dug and the gas
well completed. The location of these features are known because later maps illustrated
precise location. "0 '

This writer visited Lawnfield in 1886: "I annex a published description of that period,
by a visitor who had a facile pen with which to write, and a bright day in which to
observe: ‘Although the house is far in the country it has all the conveniences of a city
home, in plumbing, gas-fitting and steam-heating. A natural gas well has been bored on
the farm and the yard is kept lighted day and night.”"!

December 14: "The flow of gas from the new well at Lawnfield is fair, but not

sufficient to induce others to venture in further search for natural gas here at
w92

present. ‘

New Carriage House built.

Old horse barn and other barns moved to back of property.
"This ca. 1900 drawing clearly locates the main house, three smaller structures to the
rear (campaign house, ice house and perhaps a privy), the 1893 carriage barn, the

tenant’s house across the rear lane, three hen houses, a large barn (now moved from the
front of the property), and two smaller sheds."??
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1900

1904

1918

1922

1936

"A June 1900 landscape plan for Lawnfield and nearby Hollycroft was prepared by ‘T.
Wilkinson Elliot, Landscape Architect of Pittsburgh, PA.’. . . A well to the rear of the
main house is connected to the windmill pumphouse by a six inch water line. A six
inch sewer line and a one-and-a-half inch water line stretch back of the house beneath
the lane to the rear of the property toward the north. "

Porches and entry altered. Interior alterations on second floor.

March 24: "Mrs. Garfield is having a new and modern porch or portico built on the
front and east side of her home at Lawnfield. "%

" Additional window changes occurred ca. 1903/04. At that time, the 1880 window into
the second-floor bathroom on the east side was replaced by a pair of single-hung
windows with small lights bordering the sash (W:209). This change occurred in
connection with interior partitions that were moved at this time."

"The second-floor window, centered under the gable on the east elevation, was altered.
The change from a single window to two smaller ones with wooden panels between,
indicates changes on the interior of the house. It is believed that this was done to alter
the interior room sizes in this area. . . .It was determined from the paint analysis that
this work was accomplished just prior to the 1904 repainting of the house.

"West elevation changes at this time may have included altering the rear gable third-
floor window. This small horizontal window, located below the shingled gable end, was
changed to a pair of double-hung windows extending up into the shingled gable. It is
suspected that this change occurred at the same time as the alteration of the window on
the east, but it is not known for sure. This work again involved the installation of a
bathroom. %7

Lucretia Garfield died.

"The aging structure required periodic maintenance - a balky steam furnace attracted
Stanley-Brown'’s attention because his granddaughter planned to be married at Lawnfield
in late March, 1922. Apparently the heating system was repaired. "%

May 20: Garfield heirs donate the Main House and Campaign Office to the Western
Reserve Historical Society,

"Mrs. Ivan Sutliff, a curator between 1936-1938, has related that there was no central
heat or electricity in the ‘Garfield residence’ portion of Lawnfield, "

"An unsigned (possibly by A. O. Beamer?), undated drawing found in the files that
apparently dates from the late 1930s shows a large undivided multi-purpose room (now
divided by partitions into rooms 116, 117, 118) serving as a kitchen and sitting room for
the Sutliffs (see plate MD-1 in Lawnfield HSR). But room descriptions of where to
place new radiators in a 1942 contract correlate to the present location of the wall
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1936

1938

1939

“dining room (room 111),

between the present living quarters and the present kitchen. The contract document does
indicate though, that the late 1930s kitchen was located in the historic kitchen (room
116) and the living room was in the space of present rooms 117 and 118 (which were
not divided as they are now). This is consistent as far as where functions were located
with the drawing in plate MD-1. Remaining fabric in these rooms, although altered,
seems to indicate that the wall dividing rooms 116 and 117 was always there. It is
believed that the drawing was a proposal that was never enacted. By 1941, the kitchen
was moved to room 117, and room 116 became the living room. Later room 116
functioned as the library reading/research room for the LCHS into the 1980s, and then
again as a living room for a curator," 1%

"When the WRHS acquired the main house in 1936, it was extremely rundown, and
required a great deal of immediate fix-up to prepare the house for visitation. . . . There
was no real plan or priorities established for this initial phase of rehabilitation activity at
Lawnfield. James R. Garfield . . . helped the crew with painting and papering. . . .

"By June 1936 Norton had collected over $7,000 to do ‘considerable replastering and
repapering in the interior.” Visual inspection suggests that the plastering work included

the entire ceiling of the fr%lg entry hall {room 102}, the parlor {(room 110), and the

August: "Refinished floors. Revarnished and repainted woodwork."102

"Most of the current wallpaper was applied in 1936, with some reapplication in the
1950s and 1960s."1%?

"Cosmetic repair work to open Lawnfield progressed rapidly during the summer of 1936
funded by $10,000 donated by a group of Cleveland residents, "'%

Assistant State Fire Warden and Ohio Inspection Board of National Board of Fire
Insurance Underwriters evaluated the house for fire danger: "An undated (ca. late
1930s) combined report sketched twelve major recommendations including replacement
of the electrical system; chimney closure or repair; replacing the inadequate lightning
rod system; replacing the existing pipeless furnace; creating a proper location for a new
heating plant; permanently closing all register and grille ventilator openings in wood
lathe and plaster walls or closing combustible ventilating shafts; tracing all gas piping to
supply lines entering the building and capping abandoned pipe ends,"!%

Inventory done by WRHS contains no reference to second-floor trunk
room/bathroom. 1%

“In March 1939 cufator Helen Norris received bids from two paper hangers for work in
the hall and two small bathrooms upstairs as well as the bedrooms. 1%

"In June 1939 the Committee applied to Mentor Village for water meter and service

from the Mentor Village Waterworks System. Until this time Lawnfield had its own
water delivery system . . ."108
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1939

1940

1941

1942

"Local history enthusiasts and friends of Lawnfield sponsored the Garfield House
Festival in August, 1939, to raise money for ‘needed repairs’ such as . . . essential
painting."!

Ca. 1940s: section describing "Trunk Room" from guidebook to house: "This was
originally a trunk or storage room and was later converted into a bathroom. The
fixtures have been removed and this room is now used for display purposes. =110

This pamphlet is undated. It is possible, however, that it was part of the product of a
$50 contract awarded in December, 1941, *for art work on signs and pamphlets."!11

"List of Recommendations for Improvements" prepared by A.QO. Beamer, ca. 1940 lists
as urgent: (under "Carpentry") "install false ceilings on 1st floor of Quarters” and
"install dinette and kitchen cupboards and walls;" (under "Masonry") "Install fireplace
in Dinette; (under "Electrical Work") "Replace and install light outlets in Quarters;"
(under "Special Craftsmen”) "Sand Home and quarter floors." Items listed as "needed”
include: (under "Carpentry”) "install storm windows in Quarters;" (under "Masonry")
“point up Chimneys of Home;" (under "Electrical Work") "install fluorescent fixtures in
living quarters;" (under "Special Craftsmen") "Linoleum for Living quarters.”!12

January: "Estimate of Repairs and Improvements Needed at Garfield House" includes
under heading "Living Quarters”; install false ceiling or "double floor”, $130 total;
enlarge living room (marked as a priority), $100 material, $50 labor; fireplace in
dinette, $100 total; replace linoleum, $95 materials, $12 labor.!13

"The [Ohio] legislature voted $10,000 for Garfield house improvements, and Governor
John W. Bricker signed the bill in June, 1941. The funds were to be divided between
the 1941 and 1942 biennium for repairs, pamtmg, and landscaping the grounds as well
as opening the campaign office to visitors..

"Apparently the actual appropriation of state funds for the Garfield property occurred
slowly. By October, 1941, Beamer reported that $5,000 to be monitored by the State
Archeological and Historical Society in Columbus was on its way to Lawnfield. The
historical group let contracts in December 1941 which included . . . $513 for repairing
and making the heating system automatic . Subsequent contracts included $2,500 for
a Delco heating plant . palntmg $141, 50 . Other appropriations earmarked . .
$300 for inside painting, 1S

"In December, 1941 Shaffer [a Mentor electrical contractor] extended a range line in the
new kitchen (most likely room 117), wired the dining room fixture, 116

“On January 14, 1942, the Garfield House Committee authorized the Union Sand and -
Supply Corporation to install an oil fired automatic Delco warm air heating system in
the front wing with reglsters in all rooms on the ﬁrst two floors, and to enlarge the hot-
water plant in the rear wing."1!7
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1942

1943

1944

1945

1950

January: Contract between the Union Sand and Supply Company, Painesville, and A.O.
Beamer: “Install in kitchen of living quarters, 2-15 section 5 tube x 32" High Tubular
Radiators, and in living room 2-12 section 5 tube x 23" High Tubular Radiators.
Radiators shall be placed under windows,"118

"The Delaware Gazette reported iviring and heating plant improvements in March,
1942. In October, 1943, contracts for plastering, insulation repairs . . . were
announced."!1? :

Proposal from GIMCO Rock Wool Insulation to A.O. Beamer to insulate three 2-story
sidewalls of "present living quarters.”!?? This was apparently never done. However,
rock wool insulation was installed above third-floor ceilings and "a 6-inch fill over all
second-floor exposed ceilings. "12!

"Recommendations for Expenditure of 1943-44 State Funds" list the following for the
living quarters: "Install fireplace (labor & materials) [‘Postpone’ is written by hand
after this entrg] . . . Replace linoleum (material) . . . Refinish floors (labor &
materials). " 12

In tate August 1943 Beamer "contracted with carpenter/painter Mark Roberts to . . .
repaint linoleum in living quarters . . . clean or repaint kitchen and stairwell in living
quarters . . . connect water storage tank . . . fix ceiling (stairway and toilet)."123 -

- Qarfield heirs deed additional land to Western Reserve Historical Society; buildings

include carriage house.

" Another undated work order {ca. 1944) listed the following needs: . . .install dinette
and kitchen cupboards and walls. . . . install false ceilings in living quarters. . . . install
storm windows in living quarters. . . . lay flooring (1,100 ft)."124

July: "In July 1944 Shaffer billed the Garfield Home for $255 for four floor plugs, . .
converting nine gas fixtures, replacement of two ceiling lights with gas fixtures,
installation of four sidewall fixtures."125

"The 1945-46 expenditure of the ‘Additions & Betterments" appropriations for major
projects included . . . carriage barn (HS-03) roof repair . . . and painting walls in the
living quarters, " 126

Guidebook describing "Trunk Room": “In later years when primitive ways of living
were yielding to modern conveniences, the old trunk room off the end of the hall was
transformed into a bathroom. When the Home was opened to the public this was
dismantled. " 127
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1950

1952

1955

1958

1962

1965

1968-69

1975

ca. 1950s: Guide describing "Funeral Room": "The small room next to Zeb’s room
was a trunk room in the original house. It was later made into a bathroom after Mr.,
Garfield put in his own water system. It is now used as a funeral room." 128

"In the early 1950s, specific maintenance and improvement projects included overhaul of
the heating units in both the main house and living quarters, as wel! as the living
quarters redecoration for $250."1%

"Presently the record is unclear concerning the amount of physical change and
maintenance at Lawnfield in the 1950s and 1960s. . . . Normal maintenance such as
painting, carpentry, and yardwork occurred at the snte The extent of this activity has
yet to be researched and documented. "3

"During 1952-53 . . 4 new septic tank [was installed for] $450.00 and accompanymg
plumbing $273 (apparently the house was still not connected to the city sewer). 13!

"In 1955, noteworthy expenditures . . . $2,548 for painting, $615 for unspecified house
repairs . . . Record keeping declined dramatlcally in the late 1950s, evidenced by a lack -
of extant documents at both WRHS as well as the LCHS, 132

Guidebook describing the "Flower Room": "The small room near the end of the hall
that the Dickey family called the trunk room, the Garfields made into a modern
bathroom with water supplied from the tank they enclosed on the third floor. This room
is now used to display the funeral flowers that were used in 1881 at the funeral of
President Garfield."!*?

Inventory done by WRHS contains no reference to second-floor trunk room/bathroom or
kitchen/living room in living quarters,!34

"In 1962, the LCHS started to replace old plumbing with copper pipes and new
fixtures, " 133

July 24: "The museum was given the [Garfield drape] glass last fall by Keith Funston of

New York City, but has not had a display case until recently, according to James

Cooperiscurator. . . . Not all of the items are in the second floor specially built display
nl

case.

In 1968, architectural and consulting engineers drew plans for rewiring the first and -
second floors, but due to lack of funds this project languished until the fall of 1969. All
inside lighting fixtures were refurbished, rewired and hung back in the original rooms
by the spring of 1970. . . It appears, from comparison to historic photographs, that
some light fixtures either were not placed back in historic locations or had been changed
during earlier rewiring."!

Lake County Historical Society purchased 3.44-acre parcel including well house, tenant
house, barn, granary, and other small outbuildings for $70,000.
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1980

1984

1988

December 28: Congress authorized establishment of the James A. Garfield National
Historic Site.

April: National Park Service acquired rear parcel including outbuildings from Lake
County Historical Society for $205,000.

July: National Park Service acquired front parcel, including Lawnfield, the Campaign
House, and the Carriage House from the Western Reserve Historical Society
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HISTORICAL ANALYSIS
KITCHEN

Documentary Evidence

The Garfields, at least the female meémbers of the family, were very much involved with the activities
of the kitchen. In 1879, the Garfields organized a cooking club to which "every member is required
to bring a dish of her own cooking.” (See Chronology 7/10/1879) Lucretia Garfield expressed
concerns about equipment for new butter-making methods in a letter to James September 22, 1979.
During the 1880 remodeling, the Garfields bought "1 S. H. Stewart stove, 1 Open front wood stove,

1 S. H. Tin warming closet,” and the latter - and probably all -- were apparently intended for the
kitchen. (See HP-97) A subsequent freight bill lists "2 stoves, 1 tin closet, 1 reservoir.”" The
reservoir was probably a tank fastened to the back of a stove to supply hot water. This kitchen, as
well as the previous kitchen, had running water.

Far less documentary information is available about the 1885 kitchen. Different sources give credit
for the idea to move the kitchen to Lucretia, architect Forrest A. Coburn, and Joseph Stanley-Brown
(once Garfield’s personal secretary and later the husband of Garfield’s daughter, Mollie). Stanley-
Brown suggested "placing tiles on the kitchen floor" and "circulating hot air in pipes contained in a
shaft covered with a removable board," among another items.!3® The Painesville Telegraph
reported on September 10 that "a steam heater will be used for warming rooms," so not all of
Stanley-Brown’s ideas were used. The remodeling was mostly completed by the end of summer.
Harry Garfield, one of the President’s sons, reported that “the old kitchen has gone and the girls are
delighted with the new one, especially the gas part of it."!3® Whether this reference to gas refers

to lighting, the stove, or both cannot be determined. That is about the extent of contemporary
documentation of the room. Information relating to the gas and water works is included in the
Chronology.

The Lawnfield Historic Structure Report notes that original wainscoting is extant in the closet in the
room’s southwest corner, and cites other physical evidence of the kitchen’s original appearance. The
report also claims that the kitchen stove, or stoves, were connected to the chimney on the west end of
the south wall, and that "the stoves were presumably still in operation as late as the late 1930s.140

An inventory done by the Western Reserve Historical Society in 1938 makes no reference to the
room. Recommendations for work on the "living quarters” in 1940 included sanding the floors and
installation of a false ceiling, light outlets, florescent light fixtures, linoleum, "fireplace in Dinette”
and "dinette kitchen cupboards and walls"; this plan was not implemented. Several of these items
appeared again in a 1941 recommendation, and by the end of that year, a revised plan of work had
been initiated. In December, an electrical line had been extended for a range, and radiators were
installed in the living quarters the next month. It was apparently at this time that the kitchen was
moved to the former pantry, and the original kitchen was converted to a living room. According to
the Lawnfield Historic Structure Report, "by 1941, the kitchen was moved to room 117, and room
116 [the original kitchen] became the living room. Later room 116 functioned as the library
reading/research room for the LCHS into the 1980s, and then agam as a living room for a
curator."14! (Page 21-22)
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The area was occasionally painted and received other repairs, as documented in the Chronology.
Three major projects are noteworthy. Beginning in 1962, the Lake County Historical Society began
to replace the old plumbing with copper pipes. The building was rewired in 1969. Finally, in 1987,
bricks from the kitchen chimney were removed down to roof level due to concern over the chimney’s
stability. Salvaged brick was apparently used to rebuild all the house’s chimneys the following year.

Physical Evidence

Physical investigations reveal a bit more about the evolution of the kitchen area. It is clear that the
main Kitchen area, Room 116, originally was separated from the Hallway, Room 115, only by a
north-south cased beam at the ceiling and not by the current wall. In addition, the Pantry, Room
117, originally was narrower and opened into the Kitchen rather than the Entryway, Room 118. (See
BC-5) Evidence for this configuration is as follows:

a. The partition separating Room 115 from Room 116 is constructed from modern lumber and
is covered with modern paneling. Below the paneling, the beam is cased with finished
millwork. The wall surfaces abutting the ends of the partition have earlier finishes.

b. Nail holes from cut nails define the location of a former plate for the partition between
Room 117 and Room 118. (See CP-7) The plaster of the walls and ceiling is patched at
this same location, as is the base board. The nail holes are continuous, indicating that
there was not an opening in the wall.

¢. There is a framed opening at the west end of the wall separating Room 116 and Room 117.
The wood and nails indicate that the opening is original to the construction of the kitchen.
Patched woodwork and plaster further indicate that the opening is original.

Additional physical evidence provides information about the original layout of the rooms. The
kitchen had a sink near the center of the south wall, as evidenced by holes in the floor and remnants
of piping. The sink had three supply pipes, probably hot water, cold water, and cistern water. Tile
setting beds show the extent of ceramic tile flooring and wainscot in the area near the sink; ghosts of
the ceramic tile on the wainscot match the backs of ceramic tiles found in the basement. (See CP-3)

The location of the stove is uncertain, but it probably ran in an east/west direction adjacent to the
chimney. This hypothesis is based on the flue-hole in the chimney, the different wainscoting on the
chimney, piping holes in the floor that probably were for a water heater, and a ventilator in the
recessed area to the west of the chimney. Fuel for the stove also is uncertain; limited research into
gas stoves seems to indicate that gas was not used for cooking until approximately 1895, so it
probably used coal for fuel.

A servant-call box was located in the center of the north wall; the ghost for this call box matches the
box that presently is located in the Hallway, Room 112, (See CP-5 and CP-6) Lighting was
provided by a ceiling fixture located approximately in the center of the room; no evidence remains
concerning the appearance of this fixture.
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If the hypothetical placement of the stove is correct, it would appear that the ice box would have been
centered on the west wall or placed in the pantry. A work table would have been placed along the
north wall below the call box.

Little is know about the ventilation system. Remaining evidence includes only a framed opening with
pieces of an operable grille. It is likely that the grille opened to a shaft leading to the third-floor
exhaust room; the ventilation shaft from the Bathroom, Room 113, probably led to this same space.
There is no evidence for any type of blower or other mechanical equipment, so the system probably
operated strictly from stack action.

The Pantry, Room 117, layout is not clear, but there probably were shelves along the now-removed
east wall. The cabinet currently located in the northeast corner of the room originally was located in
the southwest corner, adjacent to the window, as evidenced by ghosts on the plaster, variations in the
window trim to fit the cabinet, and variations on the cabinet to fit the window trim. (See CP-14 and
CP-15.) ’

The layout of the west side of the Entryway, Room 118, also is unknown, although the width of the
area to the east of the doors suggests there may have been some provision for storage.

BATHROOM

Documentary Evidence

1t is likely that the house had running water by the time of the Garfields’ occupancy. Garfield refers
to "waterworks" in his diary on April 14, 1877, and the Historic Structure Report mentions (without
citation) that kitchen water pipes were overhauled in 1878. The Garfields were presumably
accustomed to indoor plumbing from their fourteen-year stay in Washington, D.C., just prior to
moving to Mentor. Since little is known of the plan of the house prior to 1880, it is not known if the
house had a bathroom at this time.

In the last half of 1879, Garfield’s letters to his wife, Lucretia, frequently discussed their planned new
house and his ideas for it garnered from places he visited — New York City, Maine, Long Beach,
New Jersey. He apparently involved an architect in the planning, for he wrote to Lucretia on August
13, 1879: "I will write A. Bright to send the plans to Mentor.” (Unfortunately, there are no
references to "A. Bright" in the Avery Architectural Index or several other standard reference works.)
Ultimately, however, Garfield and Lucretia -- especially the latter - seem to have taken over the
design process. By February 1880, the "new house” became, instead, a major remodeling of the
original farmhouse.

Construction began in Spring 1880. A local contractor, William Judd, was responsible for the work.
In Garfield’s absence, Judd was overseen by Lucretia and by Dr. Robison, a family friend.
Correspondence between Mentor and Garfield provides many useful details of construction, although
a number of Robison’s letters, probably never very easy to decipher given his sloppy handwriting,
have become almost illegible as a result of bleeding ink and moisture damage.
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On June 1, 1880, Lucretia wrote that the plumbers were installing the bathtub and sink, probably at
the northwest corner of the first floor. (See HP-12) In preparation, the Garfields had purchased
pipes and fittings on March 26 and April 2, most of which were delivered on April 5. (See HP-96)
A "reservoir” arrived in Mentor April 15 and, although this might have had something to do with the
bathroom, it was more likely a box attached behind a kitchen stove to keep a supply of warm water.
On May 8, 15, and 21 the Garfields purchased a total of 825 6-inch tiles and 600 2-1/2-inch tiles,
perhaps destined for the bathroom. A freight bill dated May 24 documents the arrival of a sink,
followed by a bathtub and a box of marble on May 30. The Garfields received a bill for $5.00 dated
June 1 from a wholesale marble dealer in Cleveland for "1 Ital. shelf 4.9 x 1.0." The box of marble
and/or the shelf may have been for the bathroom or could have been intended for a fireplace mantel
and surround. At any rate, the marble and the bathtub were probably the fruit of a shopping trip
Garfield and his wife took to Cleveland on May 28 where they "spent four hours in making
purchases, arranging for mantels, hearths, furniture, etc.,” according to his diary entry.

Unfortunately, there is no known evidence regarding this first-floor bathroom’s appearance. Receipts
from the period in Garfield’s papers and correspondence describe items bought and give general
information on the remodeling, providing some clues (See HP-98 through HP-100).

In his diary on September 17, 1880, Garfield noted that "John Gawn[e] of Cleveland came to build
cistern for cesspool and lay pipes for the escape of roof water.” He does not explain whether the
cesspool was for rainwater or for waste disposal.

Garfield installed a hydraulic ram to provide water pressure. By most accounts, however, the system
was very unreliable, For example, on December 8, 1880, President-elect Garfield complained to his
diary: “Pipe leading from my ram to the tank is frozen and the water supply cut off.”

It thus appears that plumbing installed in conjunction with the 1880 remodeling was limited to the
first floor, with a bathroom in the northwest corner and, probably, the kitchen. This configuration is
corroborated by an 1881 floor plan published by the New York Herald; this plan labeled the first-
floor bathroom, as described, and called the location of the second-floor bathroom a bedroom. (See
HP-12) Since the plan had other inaccuracies, however, its validity on this issue is questionable.

By the time of the 1885 addition, it was clear that improvement to the plumbing systems was
necessary. A windmill was built northeast of the house to pump water from a well. According to a
1900 map, the well was connected to the windmill by a 2-inch water line. (Current research indicates
that the well probably was below the pumphouse. It also indicates that the line identified as a 6"
sewer actually is 9" and extendes from the house along the lane to the north.) (The Garfields
purchased 6-inch pipe in 1880 -- See HP-96.) A 300-gallon tank was installed on the third floor to
provide storage capacity for the house’s water supply. Interestingly, Bicknell’s Village Builder, a
popular architectural design book published in the 1870s, called for a 300-gallon tank in specifications
for one of its house designs. (See HP-106) These specifications also provide information on standard
plumbing details of the era. (See HP-101 through HP-106) Although there is no direct documentary
evidence, it is likely that the second floor bathroom was installed at this time.

Apparently, the plumbing renovation was a success. A visitor in 1886 wrote that the house had "all
the conveniences of a city home, in plumbing, gas-fitting and s.f:eam-heating."142
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Another major alteration occurred about 1503, when the bedroom to the south was expanded and the
bathroom commensurately reduced in size. The window pattern was changed to accommodate the
new wall location. As shown in historic photos, this work was done prior to the porch
reconstruction, which is documented as March 1904. (See HP-20 through HP-22) No written or
photographic evidence has been found to show what impact this had on the interior configuration of
the bathroom.

An inventory taken by the Western Reserve Historical Society in 1938 makes no reference to the
room. The curator received bids for wallpapering "two smalil bathrooms upstairs™ in 1939, several
years after the house was opened for tours, so it is conceivable that the bathroom was still functioning
as such until the 1940s. At any rate, by the time of Orville Beamer’s curatorship in the 1940s, the
bathroom fixtures were removed and the room was used for museum displays. It appears that the
reference to this space as a "Trunk Room" developed at this time.

By the early 1950s, the room was called the "Funeral Room" in a typed house guide, without further
explanation. A 1958 guide noted that the room "is now used to display the funeral flowers that were
used in 1881 at the funeral of President Garfield.”

Photographs of Garfield’s funeral flowers (see HP-92 through HP-95) perhaps provide a small clue to
the room’s appearance. Assuming that the photographs were actually taken inside the bathroom, and
assuming that some sections of the 1880 cabinetry remained on the room’s north and east walls, the
glimpses of cabinets and hardware in these photographs are rare documentation of the room’s interior.
While these assumptions are certainly subject to debate, they can at least prov:de food for thought
given the virtual nonexistence of documentary evidence regarding the room’s interior.

The only additional information specifically on the bathroom dates from 1965, when a specially-
designed case was built into the north wall to house a collection of drape glass donated to the museum
the previous fall.

Physical Evidence

The original use of Room 214 is open to speculation. An 1881 floor plan describes the room as a
"Bedroom,” while later descriptions refer to it as a "Trunk Room.” The origin of this later term is
uncertain, but it may result from the presence of a transom at the doorway, which would have made
the room different from the bedrooms, implying a different use. As will be discussed below, it also
is possible that it was, indeed, a storage room.

Based on the following observations, it is clear, however, that the area became a bathroom between
1881 and 1903, probably in conjunction with the 1885 remodeling:

a. The pipe chase in Room 108 encloses a finished area, including 1880 wall paper and wood
trim, proving that it was installed after the 1880 work. (See CP-10)

b. The paint layers on the wood pipe chase match the layers on trim known to date from
1880. If the 1885 paint was matched to the 1880 paint, the layering would be the same.
This layering also indicates that the work was completed before the 1903 remodeling, when
the paint scheme was changed.
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A piece of painted picture rail was removed for installation of the chase and was used as a
wedge to hold the pipes in place.

The flooring of Room 214 has been cut open and patched for installation of pipes. If the
pipes had been installed at the time of construction, there would have been no need to open
the flooring. (See CP-11 and CP-12)

Plasterwork at the area of the sink and the plumbing vent has been patched, indicating that
the work was completed after installation of the plaster. (See CP-13)

It also appears, however, that this originally had some use other than as a bedroom. This conclusion
is based on the following observations:

a.

Modern random-width tongue-and-groove (T&G) flooring was removed as part of the

investigations. The lower flooring consists of pine T&G boards with only one set of nail
holes from the modern flooring. Since this room did not have finished flooring while the
1880 bedrooms did have finished floors, the room must have served some other purpose.

There are a series of square nail holes running east-west approximately three feet to the
south of the north wall. This would indicate the presence of a plate for some type of
framing, perhaps for storage shelving or boxed-in plumbing fixtures.

There is 2 transom over the doorway. Although the main reason for the transom probably
was to provide natural light to the main corridor which otherwise would have been devoid
of natural light, it also may indicate that the room served as something other than a
bedroom or that the frame and trim were relocated from a different doorway. Selected
trim was removed to investigate headers, and so forth. Based on this inspection it appears
that the doorway is in its original configuration.

There are remnants of underlayment for linoleum on areas of the floor, indicating that the floor
probably was covered with linoleum when it served as a bathroom,

In about 1903 the south wall of the bathroom was moved approximately three feet to the north,
enlarging the southeast bedroom while reducing the size of the bathroom. Changes in the windows,
as illustrated by historic photos, and plaster patches on the walls and ceiling in the area of the original
partition are the primary evidence for this work.

Several of the floor boards were removed prior to or in conjunction with the 1903 remodeling to
permit installation or alteration to the gas piping; these boards then were screwed back into place. A
second linoleum floor must have been installed to provide a finished bathroom floor, but there is no
direct evidence for this hypothesis.
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1880 PLAN AND EXTERIOR APPEARANCE

The appearance of the east and north sides of the Main House following the 1880 remodeling is the
subject of some question, primarily due to uncertainties regarding the floor plans. Floor plans
prepared in 1881 show the east side containing a large dining room on the first floor and an equally
large sewing room on the second floor. Both these rooms project further to the north than other
portions of the structure. This configuration is, however, inconsistent with the existing roof forms.

Close examination of an 1880 photo (see HP-7) shows the eastern portion of the north wall as having
a hipped roof with a dormer. It is clear, therefore, that the Sewing Room must have been
substantially smaller than it is currently.

When projected to the first floor, however, this configuration would create a dining room which
would have only one window on the east wall and which could accommodate only a small dining
table. Such a configuration is both impractical from a users standpoint and inconsistent with photos
and sketches from the period. (See HP-5, HP-12, and HP-59)

This inconsistency in room sizes on the two floors can be explained by assuming that the northern
portion of the Dining Room was a single-story area with a flat roof. The Garfields clearly used such
a treatment for the wood storage area on the west side, (See HP-7) An etching of the exterior done
in 1881 shows just such a configuration on the east side. (See HP-91) Although there are numerous
errors in the details of this sketch, the massing is generally accurate. Paint research, which shows
that the north window in the Sewing Room dates from 1885 while the south window and finishes
throughout the Dining Room date from 1880, further enhances this hypothesis. It is this author’s
opinion, therefore, that this configuration was, indeed, used.

The 1885 alterations affected both rooms. The north wall of the Dining Room was replaced with a

“masonry wall containing a door to a pantry. The Sewing Room was extended to cover the full length

of the Dining Room and was converted to a bedroom. Additional changes in the Sewing Room
included revisions to the closet and the installation of a fireplace on the north wall. Plaster patches
are evident on the walls and ceiling of the closet, indicating that the wall originally was further to the
south. Although finishes on the fireplace match those dating from 1880, it is this author’s opinion
that the fireplace dates from 1885, with the finishes made to match earlier work; this matching of
finishes from 1880 and 1885 is similar to the situation found at the pipe chase in Room 108.

See Drawing BC-5 for further explanation of this evolution.
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ROOM DESCRIPTIONS

The following room descriptions follow the format established in the Lawnfield Historic Structure
Report. Trim designations and similar notations are also from that report.

Room 116, Kitchen

Floor

1" x 3 1/4" tongue-and-groove pine boards except at southeast corner, which has mortar infill over
area of former ceramic tile (3'-2 1/2" north/south; 9°-8" east/west). Patched area from west edge of
tile area to west side of chimney extending from south wall to 3°-8" north of chimney.

Walls

Painted plaster on wood lath.

Plaster infilled over ceramic tile setting bed at eastern portion of south wall; ghosts of former tile
backs visible, match with buff-colored tiles from basement.

Plaster adjacent to south window has been removed revealing deteriorated studs.

Ceiling

Painted plaster on wood lath. Battens (3 1/2" wide x 7/8" deep 2 16" centers) over plaster. Paint on
plaster below battens indicates that battens were applied some time after original construction.

Moldings and Wainscot

Natural finish type B5 pine base and type R4 wainscot cap.

3 1/2" "V" groove vertical board wainscot around chimney and .in "closet” area in southwest corner.
Baseboard on bottom and wainscot cap on top. Overall height approximately 4’ - 6" on chimney and
6’ - 6" in "closet.”

Paneled wainscot on west and north walls. 8" wide panels with 3 1!2“ stiles with base board on
bottom and wainscot cap on top. '

Moldings interrupted at former door location at west side of north wall.
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Windows

West: 2 double-hung, 2-over-2, natural finish pine trim type T8. Twist sash lock at meeting rail.
Sash cords missing.

South: Sash removed and replaced with sheet of glass. Frame and trim deteriorated.

Doors

Basement: 4-panel, natural finish pine trim type T8 with corner blocks. Early finishes, probably
dating from 1885, are found on the basement side of the door and frame.

North: Door removed, natural finish pine trim type T8 with corner blocks.

Hardware

Basement door: Decorative steeple hinges, mortise lock with black porcelain knob, slide bolt.

Heating
2 radiators, 15 fin, 5 tube, under windows; 1942 steam piping above wood ceiling

Flue thimble on north side of chimney gives evidence for former stove.

Lighting -

“No lighting. Pipe for former gas light in approximate center of room.

Evidence for former electric wall sconces at center of north, west, and south walls.

Electrical

5 duplex outlets

Plumbing

Evidence in basement for plumbing at southeast corner; exact location of fixture(s) not evident
because areas of former tile have been filled with plaster/mortar.
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Features

Ghost of servants’ call box at center of north wall; pattern matches existing call box in Room 112.

Recommendations

Replace missing.window. _

Repair deteriorated studs.

Replace existing wall plaster. Repair ceiling plaster.

Sufficient evidence is available to permit development of accurate plan for location of major features.

Restoration of smaller, more detailed items, would be based on conjecture. Actual restoration of this
area will depend upon the interpretive plan for the house.

Room 117, Pantry

Floor

1" x 3 1/4" pine boards. Holes from cut nails at former partition location.

Walls

Painted wallpaper on plaster on wood lath. Patches at former partition location.

Approximately 1/2 of the plaster is deteriorated to the point of requiring replacement.

Ceiling
Painted wallpaper on plaster on wood lath. Patches at former partition location.

Approximately 1/2 of the plaster is deteriorated to the point of requiring replacement.

Moldings and Wainscot

Painted wood base and shoe, trim type B4; wood originally had natural finish. Splices indicated
changes in room configuration. '
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Windows

2 double-hung, 2-over-2, painted pine trim type T8 with corner blocks; sill cut away for former
cabinet. Twist sash lock at meeting rail. Sash cords missing.
Doors

None

Hardware

Modern twist sash lock on window.

Heating

Hot-water radiator below window

Lighting

Centrally located electrical ceiling fixture

Electrical
Electric light with wall switch
2 duplex receptacles

1 220 volt outlet for range

Plumbing
Porcelain on cast iron'sink with hot and cold water on east end of south wall

Gas pipe for former stove in northwest corner

Features

Wood storage cabinet in northeast corner; cabinet relocated from southwest corner
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Recommendations

Replace damaged plaster,

Additional restoration will depend upon the use of this area of the house

Room 118, Entryway

|&83
=

1" x 3 1/4" pine boards covered with underlayment and carpet

Walls

Wallpapered plaster on wood lath; good condition

Ceiling

Painted plaster on wood lath; approximately 1/2 of plaster is deteriorated

Moldings

Natural finish wood base and shoe, trim type B4

Windows

Natural finish 2/2 double-hung sash; trim type T8 with corner blocks

Doors
Four panel natural finish door; trim type T8

Screen door with fixed transom on exterior
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Hardware

Three, 5-knuckle hinges, 2 with steeple pins and one with ball pin; "Lockwood" mortise night-lock
with modern cylinder; brass knob latch; twist-type dead bolt; modern slide bolt and chain receiver

Heating

12 fin, 5 tube hot-water radiator below window

Lighting

Centrally located electrical ceiling fixture

Electrical
- 1 duplex receptacle
6 wall switches

Battery-operated smoke detector

Plumbing

None

Features

Stairway with natural finish turned balusters and newel post

Recommendations
Repair damaged ceiling plaster
Remove inappropriate hardware

Further restoration will depend upon the planned use for this area
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Room 214, Bathroom
Floor
Modern random width T&G flooring; removed as part of the investigations.

Original (ca. 1880) flooring 1 1/4" x 7" T&G. Later (ca. 1885) 7/8" x 3 1/4" T&G installed on
joists raised above tops of original joists.

Single set of nail holes from modern flooring indicates that there was no finish floor in 1880; finish
floor as a bathroom probably was linoleum, rather than wood or ceramic tile.

Holes in the lower flooring indicate locations for a sink and a tub along the north wall with a water
closet in the closet.

Sections of flooring fastened with screws; these areas had been removed to permit
installation/modification of gas piping.

Cut nail holes running east/west indicate position of former partition or shelving.

Walls

Painted wallpaper on plaster, The top layer of wallpaper appears to date from 1936 or later.
Remnants of 1904 wallpaper can be found behind a former shelf bracket in the southeast corner,
behind the former tub, and behind a wood rail in the closet. No remnants of 1880 or 1885 paper

‘were found.

Ghosting on the piaster adjacent to the built-in cabinet on the north wall suggests the
installation/alteration to plumbing following original plastering of the wall.

Ceiling

Painted wallpaper on plaster; wallpaper appears to date from 1936 work or later.

Moldings

Painted wood base and shoe, trim type BG6. Painted picture rail on north wall only.
Windows

Painted single-hung, multi-pane border sash; painted wood trim, type T10, installed approximately
1904.
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Doors

Painted 4-panel; painted wood trim, type T10, with mitered corners and operable transom with 2-
light sash,

Hardware

Plain 3-knuckle hinges, mortise lock with white porcelain knobs

Dutchmen at former cabinet-hinges on north side of closet door opening; cabinet-latch keeper on
south side of door opening

Heating
Modern supply air southwest corner. No evidence for any earlier heat.

Plaster patch near ceiling may indicate former chimney thimble for stove.

Lighting

Electric 3-arm ceiling fixture in center of room; investigations indicate that this location never had a
gas fixture.

Remains of gas wall fixture at east end of south wall; remains of electric wall fixture at west end of
south walil.
Electrical

2 duplex outlets

Plumbing

Lead pipes for hot and cold water supply and for the sink and tub drains remain in the joist space
along the north wall. A 4" trap collects the drains from the tub, the sink, and an unknown fixture ca.
5’ to the north into a single area and discharges into a 2" lead drain line; this line discharges into a
4" cast iron drain and vent system.
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Features

Wallpaper remnants and paint ghosting indicate the presence of a corner shelf to the south of the
window.

Paint ghdsting for possible water closet tank on east side of closet area.

2" diameter light-gauge galvanized pipe of unknown use spans north/south in east side of closet.

Recommendations

Sufficient evidence remains for accurately restoring the Bathroom to its 1904 appearance, if desired.
Work required would include installation of plumbing fixtures, installation of reproduction wall paper,
installation of linoleum based on prototypes, installation of a reproduction gas wall sconce, and
removal of the modern electrical light and wall sconce wiring.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

Many changes have been made to the Kitchen and Bathroom areas since the major remodeling of
1885. Decisions concerning the restoration of these spaces must be based on available evidence and
on the proposed use of the building.

Based on existing documentary and physical evidence, the general layout of each area can be
determined, as can surface finishes. Based on discussions with previous researchers, it is unlikely
that additional information can be gained from further documentary research. Added physical
investigations would require major removal of existing plaster and would be unlikely to provide
significant further information. More specific details required for the restoration of each room would
be based on speculation.

The General Management Plan does not address the possibility of interpreting either the Kitchen or
the Bathroom. The Lawnfield Historic Structure Report does, however, raise the possibility of
interpreting these spaces according to their historic uses; it also proposes, however, locating an
elevator in the kitchen.

It is this author’s recommendation that these two areas not be restored for two primary reasons.
First, much of the restoration would be based on prototypes from similar homes and period
publications, rather than on site-specific information. Second, interpretation of these areas would not
add to an understanding of Garfield, since they were added following his death, For those interested
in domestic technology, there are numerous other sites with kitchens and bathrooms which have been
accurately restored.
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RBISTORICAL PHOTOGRAPHS (HP)

The following historical photographs continue the numbering system established in the Lawnfield
Historic Structure Report. Photographs with numbers below HP-90 were included in the original
report; photographs with numbers HP-90 and above appear for the first time in this suppiement.
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HP-3

Lawnfield, ca. Spring/Summer 1880, East and South Sides. Note the four window
openings on the first floor level of the east side. Also note the hipped roof which, when
projected to the house, would cover only the first three windows. This implies the
presence of a flat-roof section to the north, probably one-story in height.
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HP-7

Lawnfield, ca. Fall 1880, West and North Sides. Note the hipped roof and dormer on
the far-east side; this indicates that Room 216 was significantly smaller as a "Sewing
Room" than it was following the 1885 remodeling.
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unknown. It does, however, show the dining room projecting beyond the main body of

the house, as confirmed by HP-3 and HP-7. It also shows Room 214 as a bedroom

rather than a bathroom.

Lawnfield, September 26, 1881, Floor Plans. The accuracy of this illustration is

HP-12
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HP-20

Lawnfield, ca. 1886, East Side. This photo shows the southeast wall with a second-
floor window centered on the gable,
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HP-21
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Lawnfield, ca. 1888, East Side. This photo shows the southeast wall with a second-
floor window centered on the gable.
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HP-22

Lawnfield, ca. 1903, East Side. This photo shows the southeast wall with paneling at
the center of the second floor. Note that the east porch has its original form; this
porch was remodeled in 1904.
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Lawnfield Interior, ca. 1880, Dining Room. Note the two windows to the east, the two
doors to the west, and the table with four chairs on each side. None of these would
have been possible in a room limited to the size of the main building block.
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HP-79

Residence of Mr. J. H. Wade, Euclid Ave

1mn

I3

Kitchen

Plate from "Some Selections from the Book of Coburn and Barnum Architects.” This
kitchen was designed at the same time and by the same architects as the Library
Addition.
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HP-90

Lawnfield, Etching ca. 1881. East elevation has windows centered on gable.
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HP-%1

GEN, GARFIELD'S HOME, MENTOR, OMIO.

Lawnfield, Etching from 1881 The Life and Times of James Abram Garfield by William-
Ralston Balch. Note the single-story extension to the east wall.
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HP-92 Funeral Flowers, Probably in Second Floor Bathroom. Some wallpaper evidence is
visible around the display. o
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HP-96 Statement from S. Wood & Sons, Contractors and Sewer Builders.
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[Writien lo go with Working and Detall Deawings, |

SPECIFICATIONS. ‘

Of the works and materials required in the erection, construction, and completion of Design 40, Plale 30.
Dixtexsions.—The drawings must be acenrately fullowed acceniing to their seale, and preferenee given to figured dimensions over scale,
Detail drawings will be farnished, any work cousbrucled withiout snch drav.ngs must be removul if required, and work replaced
at contractors expense. ‘LThe building to Le in size s shown and ligured on drawings.  Cellar, 6 9" tirst floor, 9 0¥ kitchen,
& 3"; second floor, $'0"; aver kitchen, 8 ¢ ; all in Lhe clear, divided, subdivided, and built in exact accordanec with plans and

specifications.
MASON WORK.

Kxcavaron.—Excarate in depth fur the cellar, aren, foumlalious,
and footings of all the walls wod chineys, nlse for wll drajos, cisterm ad
cess-pools. i trenches for footings of all walls 87 below level of cellar
Lettom; Ml §o arownd walls as fuld; grule the excavabed cartd around
the buildiug ws way be diected. Luy askie ihe top soil, ol conuncuce-
mcnt, sud reploce over the graded surface at complekion.

STtoxr Wouk.—Dulkl foundatlon walls of good buildlug stone, of
flat bed wnd dlem bulld, lakd i elean, sharp saud, e aml cement wortir,
in parts of vue of ceincat ond Lwo of lime. Lay duwo foolings wpder
afl the walls of the building of Ilat stones, bt less than 207 leng awl
6'7 thick, bedded crosswisg of the walls on the patural, bodisturbed carth;
build the walls from thence to grude level, by and full Lo a live on Lhe
muer face, ansd flush mul polut at completion. “Ihese walls Lo average
17 6Y in thickness, bhe greater beeodil ul the base.  Lay down substan-
tlul foumdations under clhimaeys avd piers io cellar; put down eleur of
Irnst, sulld Foundailous wniler piers supporting porches and vernudas, ul-
50 ader all exterior steps.  Aren copings and steps tv be of blue slone,
steps properly willud i on cucli eud.

UNLEMINNING. ~Duild the anderpinning walls 167 tilck from grade
Ievel, aud exteod up 27 47 in helght, with good underplaolng stone, lovel
heds, plumb juints; alk ougles aud jambs Lo have chlsel deall ou edzes,
also on Wp Lo receive waodwerk, aud Lo be properly polated and penciled
with o white jolnt al completivn, Window 3lls Lo be of blue stouc;
such purtlons ¢f walls ax are covered up witl veranda to be rougi werk,

Cruge’ooL.—Btone up cess-pool 3 feet In diameter aud B fect deep,
covered wilh rough flag, provided with man-hole, ¢lc., complote; make
the necersary conncctious with Lhe gistern to receive the overliow tiicough
cemeint pipe of the required size. Also stoue up, In like manncr, cess.
100, Lo recelve wostos [row hiouse, aud connect with 6" cement drain-pipe.

Irick Work.—To be luid up wilth best quality bard-burned brick
and clcan, shoarp saml, lime mertar,

e —Build plers in cellar 16°7 square, as shown, and cap with fat
slowe, slec ol plers; piers supporting porches Al verandas 129 synare,

Cinuseyd.~—Bulld the chlimeys os showu on plaus; carry up the
fues of unifurn vise, to be well plastered, furnlsicd with proper stove
cutlurs and veatilatiog Anes where required ; turo archies Lo all lire-places,
nud torn tehnmer arches under all lwearths  top out above the roof, as per
detail drawings, with selceted brick luid lu black mwertar, clase Joluts,
Joluted and cleaned down.  Free the throat, bresst and janibs of kitchen
lirc-place with svlecked brick, Jald In black wmortar, provided with slate
shelf, W have blue stoue hearkh as showo on pluns.  Build Qree-place in Lall
with bull’ brick, jnid in red mortar, augles molded and ns per detnily, also
luruish e peeessary brick, wortar and plaster tor sctiing the wantels
and Kupge.

CisTruN=Duild a cistern where directed, 10 . dinmeter aunt 10 [t
deep, with Y walls laid o asd swvothly coaled on tht inabde with eo-
menl ; cover manebole o wecek with dayg -stune, cousect Lo Jeaders wigh 44
and G vitrilied pipe.

LaTinsti,—Luth all wally, cellings, amd work ihat Is Nureed off,
throvzhent tirst aud secoud foors, wiih sound, seasoucd lah, sceurcly
nailed to each stud, ond joints broken every teath luth.

PrastrRiixG.—All walls and ecifiugs throughout drst and second
fisors, pluster with oue good coas of brown, well linlred mortar, amd in-
ish with one eoab of white hard-dlnish. Al angles b be sliucp aud regu-
Jur in form, walls o bu struight sud plunl, i lo all cases to exleud
Lheur Juwn Lo Heors,

Conxwes.—lun sticeo cornlees, as shown by the detalls, in hall,
parlor, Nhrory and diving-roous of frst hvor.

CrxTirs.—1'at up four neal sid sppropriute centres, of such patiern
a8 selectedl by owuer,

Anciks.  Fluish aud mold she arches in ball as shown by the detall
drawjugs.

Fixst.=White wash walls o Jaundry, and do all necessary mueuding
of sralla after other crafteien, aud dellver ihennson work up Lo Lhor-
oughly good onder at completion; muke the fuors brouncluan from
time to Liine as required; also rewove all mason’s waste mulerials nngd
rubbish accumulatcd during tic progress of the works, from off the prem-
lscs aud leave everythiog o o perfect, complete aud satisfuclory state,
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CARPENTER.

Tisturi.—The whale of the Linber used L and throoghout tihs bulld-
lirg b e Lhic best of their several kimls, well seasoned and free from sy,
shakes and other bmperfeclions bnpairing iks durability and streogib.

Framma.—The frame Lo be wihal is known as indf balloon, the studs
1o be tenoued into sills and plates, Lo be bruced with long augle Lruces
cut in barefpot and well spiked-  “The girks 1o be of yellow pine, nolelied
Iutlo and well spiked to studs, Do all necessary framing wround staleways
aud chitnneys, wll properly mortised aud tenoned logether and all Lo be
deue iu a thoroughly workmunlike aud snbstoutial wanner.

Fuaxe Timner,—5ills and gicders, GYx6Y; posts, 67x6" with Inslde
angle cut gut to make them 4'f fram fnces. Girts 137x4"; plates, 47x6%;
irst floor timbuers, 2V7x107; second fluor, 27x87; altic 2¥x(/*—all 16"
gentres; bewder and brimiuer beawd, 37 thick, all foor thmbers under
paclitlons runnivg samo way o be 47 thick, roof rafiers, 29xgr—2 (.
cehtres; hip aud valley rafiery, 39x3/. Door and window studs, x4
iulermedinie studding, ¥'x4"—I16" cculres; long bruces, 2¥x4”, Al
main partitions to be sel with 2¥x4’" studdleg—I1G6Y centres, Lo be sct as
the frame is raised, wul foot on girders, Lo hiave 3'x4' plutes on which to
foot secomsl siory partliions and corry ficor timbers ; other partitious set
with 2723 sluds—16" ceutres, and all partitiens that :are directly over
cach ather o bLe sel in like monner to abore, all to Lo well braeed amd
spiked; all angles o be formed solid, g 2l partitions Lo be bridged ouce
in their belght.  Porch and versoda sills, 47x6'; floor thmbers, 29756/ —
16" centres ; plates, 41x56'; rulters, $"x6M=2 L. ceutres.

Ducing,—All the Hoor thinbers Lo Le bridged throngh cenlres with
X2 cross-bridging, properly cut lu between timbers and nailed will
twe M. nalls ub each eud, alseg, furnish any othier timber of the requined
size and neccssary to fully cemplete the works,

Fuwwst,—Iroperly support aud furr under stales, farr for arches,
sud do any other furring required by the desiga.

SuEATNNG.~—~Cover the entire frame with tongued aod grooved
boarnls, wel to uxceed 67 Lo width, nailed through cach edge to avory
stud will 1Gd. uails; thix lucludes all rooly.

Lumnkr.—The Jumber to be of wiiile pioe, unless otherwise specliled,
well sensuned and dry, and free frons Bhakes, loose knots ool other -
perfections.  Sashes aud panel work W be perfuctly clear lumber.

Crarnpauniio.—Cover all sides wlth clear ploe clapboarda, put on
with 8d. box nails, with not less than 14/ jup, Thesc boards Lo be under-
luld with beaver-brand, resiin-slzed, waterprool sheathiug fele, which al-
50 Hace wider covuer boards, casings, ete., 50 05 Lo lap and make o
Llighit jol.

Conxkr Boanos, casings, atud bands, 1{Px 7; banus to Le rabbeted
top and botiow for clapbonnds,

Waten Tapre-—To be lurred off from frame, and to hase beveled cop
14" Lhick.

Conxicrx.—Ta be formed on 8% 5 mfler fvet, cot ns shown, mil
spiked vn Lo raflers at plate; the planeier (o be foooed by lnying narrow
pine matghed bonnds, Riee dewn on Baller feet; barge bonrds sucd Zoile
stalls to ho 247 thick nud as shown.  Drackets, as shown, and all os per
details. Unkbers L be of galvanized iron, gruded to alied water to polnts
Jodicated on plo,

Lespens—Lurnish ol the required leacdlers of suflicicnt size Lo con-
vey thic waker fvoin the gutlers to the ¢isbern und the tank o allic; said
leaders to be lirmly sceured to buildlog.

Fixiat.—To be of wrought iron, os per detalls, to bave galvanlized
fron cover to hase,

Wispow Fraxes.~To be made fo We ordinary manner; cellar
frames W be mnde out of 2 plank, rabbeted for gasl ; sush hinged to top
aud to huve emitable nsteners o keep open or shut: all sash to Le of
seasoncd pine, 1A% thick, aud double hung with best heingr cords, Iron
welghts, and 13 shon axle pulleys, imd Lo be pluzed with English alicet
glaas, all to be well bedded, bradded and puttlied ; window ln dislng-room,
on lo veranda, to be hivged ; wiudow silis 247 thick.

Brevps.—Outside bliuds to all windows, exeept cellar, hung fa two
folds, with the best ksl of linges, and secured with best siyle fastencers,
apd painted three coats of palat, invisiblo green.
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Donn Fnames.—0Ootslde door frames to be of plauk, rabbeted, and
to have 24’/ ook sfills.

Y rraNpas.—Construct veranda ond porclies, as shewn, and as per de-
infldrawings; steps, 14/ thick, risers 17/, to have cove under nosings; loy
the foors with 1{/#x 3§*/ flooring, blind palled to beams, and te have paint
Joints; rafters to bu dressed and chamfered ; lay on raflers, face down nar-
10W beaded celling of even widths. Columns, roils and brackets to be ns
shown ; cornices formed with beaded celling on rafter fect In ke manner
to munin roof; rafter feet Lo be cut as shown ; panels formed voder door
a3 shown.

Froong. —Lay the kitchen floor with yellow pine, §#/x3°/, blind nalled
to cvery beam; all other floors lay with white plne, not to execed 577 In
width, t¢ be well ladd, joluta besken, sod blind natled [n a thorough man-
uer. Lay front hall flcor with yellow pine and black walnut lo alteranty
strips, to have neat border.

WailNscoTING.—Walld of kilchen to be waloscoted 3 ft. bigh with
Benaded battens §4/ x 34, and Lo have neal bevelled malded cap.

Casings.~—Case nll doors ond windows throughount, before plastoring
with }'f casiogs, aud trim ball, parlor, dlulng-room and library with a 14"
x 3 band-mold ; elaewhere trim with 1/2x 13 baod-mold ; wlhdews Ln nbove
rooms to be inished dowa to ouor with framed ard molded pancl-bncks Lo
matcl doors ; other windows to have nent steel and apron finish; door-
jumbs to be 1%, beaded on cdges, and rabbeted for doors; 1o moidings In
closcls.

Base-—Tut down after plasteriug, 87 molded bose In principal rooms
first Aoor; 77 plain beveled clsewhere.

Doons.—To be tnade ta skze and thickeess os marked ou plans ; front
doors 05 per details; top pancly gluzed with colored glass ; oll uther doors
to be slx-pnr.'ul opgee molded solld.

SavpLes.—Tat dowi molded bard-woed raddles to o)l doors.

Srams.—5tairs to cellar wo e of plank, no risers, to have flat roil on
shie; mala stalrs us shown 1/7 rlsers, 137 treads, with returuced inelded
unosings, o be wull auppotted and rough bracketed, steps howsed loto
strings; newel posts, rails and balusters to bu of black walout, 23 per
details, Dock stalrs, nnd stoalrs Lo attic to be bax stalrs.

Wasi Tups.—To be constructed out of 2/ plank, rabbeted and put
together with white lead jolnts, aud to bave hioged Lids—these tubs to be
147 deep.

Smk.—Ccll up under sluk with narrow beaded baittens; o have door
properly huog; cell up splash back 16° bigh, nud cap ssmne a3 walnscoting
also place drip board complete,

Wasl Bowes.—Cell up under with narrow beaded ash Latieus, and
hoog deot to form & closet umider.

Barn-Roous,—Wulnscot wills of bath-room, 3 . Ligh, with narrow
teoded ash battens, and eap with neat eap; water sloset Lo be fitied up
with scat, elser and mitre-clomp flap, hung with brass butks,

DaTin-TUE Lo be cuseul io most upproved munier, all of ash.

TaRK.—-Construce out of 2/ plaui, o tank inattie, over bath-room 7 0.
long, B G wide and 3 ft. deep, framed, braced and supported in s substan-
tial manner; e bottom of tank to be furred and plostered ln bath room,
and finish 77 6 in Lhe clenr,

PARTRY.—T'u have counter-shelf and four sbelves nbove; closet for
barrel of flour, with lid in counter-shell; also put iu two dove-tailed deaw-
ers, and put up one dozen pot-hogks.

1'a5AGE.—To0 have table with cloget under, nod three dove-tnbled
dravrers; also shelves as shown.

CLosers.—-To have shelves ot neat strips, aud double wordrobe hooks
8" apark, on neat molded strips.

Funxtrurz.—To froot deors ko be ‘Tucker bronze; other deors, first,
fioor, principal rooms, lemaclte Eastlako pattern; other doors, mineral
japanned, sash fastencrs to corrcapond; all small elusets to havo sultable
catches ; all drawers to have aultable pulls, locks, ote., complute.

Locxs.—All doors throughout to be secured with mortise locks, of
best clty moke, brasa fronts, bolta and keys; cutslde doors to lave suita.
ble shove bolts.

StoPs.—Put robber-tipped door-3tops Lo base where requirad.

Hinging.—Hang ull doors wilh logse Joiat butts, of approprlate
alzes; sll doors over 7° 6 high Lo have three butts cach. Sliding doors
to run on bross truck acd patent slot sheoves.

Beur.—Front door to have bell connocted with kitchen, with pall,
ete., complete.

Nionr-LaTCu to front door, comblned with lock, and supplied with
two keys.

Coar Durs, and partitions o cellar, to be Loneded up with matched
bosards, ns 8liown ; doors in cellar to be batien doors.

ManTtris. Coostruct mantel iu hall of ash, as per details; furnish
and put bp four slole mantels; all benrths of slate, to have aummer fronts,
ete., complete, and to cost @ 100 and be aclected by owner; mantels in
bed-room oun drst Aver, and two chambers, to be ncat wooden mantels.,
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FiNaL.-—ADy otlier work that Is shown by the drowiogs, aod noces-
BOTY to fully complete the work, to fully complete the same to the true In-
teut nod menning of these particulars, 14 to he done without extro chorge.

SLATER.

Cuver all roofs with best Bungor, 1'a., black slate, of small alze, lald
with a lap of ol lenst 37 of the third over the Drat; cach slate to be nall-
ed with twoe golvanized iron nalls; Iny under slate hWenvy tarrcd felt
paper; cover the ridges with ziac, also tinsh vnlleys and chimneys with
heary zlne, and sceurs with slater's cement, To be s Orst ¢lass Job, sor
warrsuted tight for two years,

PLUMBER.

IroN Soit-pire.—Furnlsh, and cenncct with drain, & 4/ cast iron
§0il-pipe, extend up and connect with water closct In bath-room through
6lb, lead trp; soil-plpe to be properly aecured and the jolnts caulked
tlght with lend, and ¢xteod up above rpof ond cap with ventilator, AH
traps ko plumbing te have 17 veot pipes of lead run ujy to attic and eon.
pected with soil or ontled plpe up above roof.

SuerLy-pick.—Furnlsh o 1" B lewl plpe, conoeet with the attic tank,
and ran te and conoect with boller in kitchen; tank to be lloed with 4ib.
lend, and Lo haye 277 overflow run through cutslde wall,

BuiLer.—Ta be a BG-gollon, galvanized iran, of the best constructlon,
connected to water buck of runge, through deuble A lead pipe and broaws
couplings; these pipes to be left ready for conoection.

SINK.~To be 20 x 30" x G¥ eayt fron, palvaslzed, supplled with hot
and cold water through ' B lead plpe, §** brans dreaw cocks, to have 3"
waste, properly trapped and counected.

Yumr.—=Put in o combioation 1ift and ferce pump, to cust §12: con-
nect the same with clstern and well through 1§//B. lead plpes, provided
with stop cocks, oue on ench plpe, ploced beneath the pump, coobect
wilth tank ln abtle through 1% I lead pipe and mu tell-tale back from
tank to sluk,

‘Wasu TUDS.—~Supply the two wash tubs in laundry witt bot and cold
water, through {7 I lead pipe and Lrass thlinble tray draw cocks, to
lhave 2 main wuste and 13" braocl wastes, properly l.rnpped and con-
nected.

Wasik BowLs,—=To be of Wedgewood ware, and to hnve marble couin-
ter stink Lops ond surbascs, Bupplicd with hot and cold water thrungh 477
I lead pipe and compression deuble nickel ploted draw cocks, and plated
plug s ehuln; to hoave 1Y lead wastes, properly eapped oud connected ;
lead puns to each with i' lend soste ruu dowo to underside cellar ceil-
ing.

WATER-GLOSET to be a uurrlson best closet, with patent drlp tray;
150 pntent shut-off cock to regulate flow of wuter to bowl; to be sct ood
it up iu o perfect, tight and completo manuer.

Bari Tun.—To be n 12uz. sheet-copper wb, well tinned and plaulabed,
supplled with hot and cold water through §' B lead pipe and nlekle-plat-
ed draw-cocks ; alse to bave plated plog and chain; also rubber hose
shower-bath attachment; waste, 14¥ lead, properly trapped and copnect-
ed.

Cotxs.—Tut in Lhe necessary stop-cocks over the boiler o sbut the
water off from the upper part of the house; also put In a lead branch con-
nected with drajn with stopscock for cimpsying the boller; also put in one
drowscock o cellar and all other atop and draw-cocks accessary Lo moke
n complete and dlrst-class Job; nll pipes to be groded, so that if the water
13 vt off they will drain dry, and o whole of the work to be done tn
the very best and workmaollke manuer, and delivered up in a complete
nod perfect state at completlen,

PAINTER.

Troperly atop and otherwise prepare for aod psint all wood work that
is customary und usonl to paint, both on the interior and exterior, two
pood coats of the best white lead and raw llnsecd oll point.

Taiot ftnkal iuvisible green, and gild che tips with gold leal,

Groin the wood work Jo klichen and back hall Bght onk; grain din-
Inpg-reow pnd linrary waluut ood mople; paint patlor aod hall in tinta :
elsewlhere palnt lo one color,

All hord wood to be proporly filled with Wlheeler's patent flller and
flnished with two coats of Crockett’s Ireservutive No. 1, properly applied
aod robbed down smooth; all gralned work io be varnisked. FIN the
front doors with Wheelera filler and finish wilh two conts of Crockett's
Spar Composlition and rub down.

Puint clapboards light vlive drab; palnt corner boarda, caslags, cte.,

Iudinn Red; pick out all chainfers and cut work jo black, palot sosh

Veuctlan red; Verands celllngs uitromarioe Mue, with rofters Iodlao
red; and do any other poluilng a9 required by the desizn, and necessary
to fully complete the same.
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SPECIFICATIONS.

SPECIFICATIONS of the Materialy to be Furnished and Labor ie be Performed in the Erection and
Completion of a Wooden Dwelling-louse, according 1o a set of plans, shown on Plate 2, furnished
by L. Underwood, Archliect, 13 Exchange Street, Doston.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION,

The size of the house and the size and arrangement of all the rooms, etc., ate to be as shown
on the plans, which are to be considered as a part of this specification ; and which, with the writing
and figures thereon, together with the defail drawings, are to be adhered to in every respect. The
figures in all cases are to take the precedence of measurements on the plans.

EXCAVATION, STONE WORK, &c.

The contractor i to doall of the excavating for the cellar, drains and cistern, dig well, etc., and
to put it the cellar and bulkliead walls, build foundations for piers and chimneys, and 1o do all the
stoaework necessary to receive the frame. The cellar and bulkhead walls areto be 18" thick at the
bottom and 14" at the top, built with stone laid in cement mortar, and are to Le carried up to the
proper height to receive the sills. The cellar is to be 8 6" deep in the clear of the joists. There is
to be a dry well, 4 in diameter at the bottom and 27 6" at the top, and 6’ deep, built where shown
on the plans. The walls are to be of stone laid dry, carried up to within 18” of the top of the ground
and covered with Hagging stones. There is to be a 5" vitrified earthenware drain-pipe from the
waste-pipe to the sink, to the dry well, provided with a stench trap. The cellar wall above the
grade is to be built of large stone, with an even face on the outside. The joints are to be well
pointed and drawn. Thers is to be a well located as per plan, and bricked up with a 4" wall of
hard burned brick, Jaid in cement and is to be covered with flagging stones. '

All earth that is excavated is to be deposited in such places in the lot ay the proprietor may
direct '

' BRICKWORK.

Piers are to be built, as shown on the cellar plan, with good hard burned brick, and carried
up to the sills. The chimneys are to be built, as shown on the plans, of a good quality of chimney
brick,. and to be topped out with good hard burned brick of uniform color, according o designs
given in the elevations. All of the flues are to be fastened throughout on the inside, There are
to be funnel irons, of such sizes as may be directed, put in the chimneys, so that stoves may be put
up in all the rooms.

There is to be a rain-water cistern, as shown on the plans, of 2,500 gallons capacity, built in
the usual manner, with hard burned bricks laid in cement, and is to be thoroughly cemenied. on
the inside, and provided with a flagging stone cover and a vitrified earthen overtlow pipe connected
with the drain running to the dry well. The overflow pipe is to have a bend-trap.

CARPENTERS WORK.

The frame is to be made and set up in & good and workmanlike manner, with good, sound,
square-edged spruce timbers and joists of such sizes as are marked on the plans. The floor joists
are to be bridged with truss bridging. The walls and roof to be boarded with sound pine boards,
mill-planed and matched ; to be well laid and nailed. The roofs are to be prepared for slating or
tinning, as may be required. 'The outside finish is to bo well wrought and put up according to the
detail drawings, and is to be of sound, seasoned pine lumber, free from knots, sap or shakes. The
walls of the house are to be clapboarded with Eastern pine clapboards, planed fo an even thickness
and moulded, and laid so as to lap not less than 14, and all to be thorouglily nailed.

HP-103 Prototype Specifications from Bicknell’s Village Builder, 1878

59



BPECIFICATIONS FOR DESIGN SHOWN ON PLATE TWO.

All projections, mitre-joints, and other exposed places are to be well leaded with sheet lead
80 as to prevent all leakage.

SLATING AND TINNING.

All the roofs are to be slated with good Pennsylvania slates of uniform color, laid on tarred
sheathing paper, and secured with Swedes iron nails. The slates on the Mansard reofs are to be
8’ x 127, with the lower ends rounded.

The roofs of the Bay and Luthern windows, and of the piazza, are to be tinned with the best
quality of roofing tin, pat on with soldered joints. The chimneys and all other places liable to
leak are to be secured with lead or zinc and made perfectly tight.

The gutters to the main roof are to be of wood and formed as shown on the details of cornice,
and to have lead eaves pipes, and two 3" (inside measurement) round wooden conductors put up
where directed. The gutters for piazza and bay window are also to be of wood, with 2 wooden
conductors. As many of the conductors are to connect with the cistern as may be directed. AIl
others are to have proper turnouts at the bottom.

WINDOWS,

The window-frames are to be made aceording to the detail drawings, with Southern hard
pine, pulley stiles and parting beads. The pockets for the weights are to be cut into the pulley
stiles and secured with screws. The sashes arve to be of pine 14 thick, and double hung with
weights, best hemp sash cord, and 1" axle pulleys, and to be provided with good bronzed sash
fastenings. The stop-beads are to be of soft pine, and are to be secured with round-headed blued
iron serews.

The cellar windows are to liave plank frames made in the usual manner, and the gashes to
be hung so as to swing np under the first floor. The glass is to be of such sizes as are fignred on
the plans. '

There are to be outside blinds on all the windows, to be hung with wronght-iron hinges and
secured with good substantial fastenings.

PARTITIONS AND FURRINGS.

All partitions are to be set with 2" x 3" joists, placed 16” from centers and bridged. All are
to be of even widths, and to be set straight and true. The cappings to the hall partitions are to be
37"x 4”.  All the partition joists, when practicable, are to go throngh the floor and stand on the
partition cap below. :

All ceilings are to be furred with 1 x 3" strips, placed 16” between centers, made straight,
and all to be well nailed. All necessary gronnds are to be put on to fally prepare for plastering,
All other places requiring it are to be furred in a proper manner.

LATHING AND PLASTERING.

All the walls and ceilings throughout the house are to be lathed with good pine or spruce
laths, assorted so asto be entirely free from knots, in all of the principal rooms. All are to be
plastered with a heavy coat of lime and hair mortar evenly floated, and skim-coated with beach
sand finish. All angles are to be made straight and true.

There are to be stucco cornices and centerpieces in the front hall, parlor, and sitting-room.

The cornices to cost, on an average, 37 cents per foot, and the centerpieces to cost, in the aggre-
gate, $25. :

INSIDE FINISH.

The inside finish is to be of clear and thoroughly kiln-dried pine lumber. The style of
finish is to be as shown on detail drawings and put up in n thorough and workmanlike manner.
There is to be a moulded base in all of the principal rooms throughout the house. All of the
clothes closets are to have shelves and drawers as marked on the plans, and to have two strips on
all sides where there are no drawers or shelves and provided with hooks screwed on not over 8”
apart. The store room and china closet are to be finished with drawers and shelves. The sink is
to be finished with a closet underneath. The under floors are to be of good, sound, seasoned
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SPECIFICATIONS FOR DESIGN BHOWN ON PLATE TWO.

square-edged pine or spruce mill-planed boards, laid edge to edge. The upper floors are to be of
narrow widths of seasoned pine, mill-planed, jointed, well laid and smoothed off. All floors are
to be cut in between the bases.

The bath-tub, water-closet and wash-stand in the bath-room are to be finished with black
walnut. The water-closet seat and the tub are to be paneled and moulded. The wash-bowl case
is to be finished with drawers and a closet underneath. There is to be a paper box in the water-
closet seat. ,

The front outside doors are to be double and of the sizes marked on the plan, to be 1§”
thick and to have raised mouldings. The upper panels are to be of glass. The rear outside door
is to be of such size ag marked on the plan 1§ thick and moulded with raised mouldings. All
other doors throughout the house are to be 14" thick and moulded with raised 'monldings. Al
doors are to be of such sizes as are figured on the plans and to have glass panels where marked.

All doors are to be of the best quality of kiln.dried pine lumber.

: STAIRS.

The stairs are to be located and built as shown on the plans. They are to be finished with
good clear pine lumber and to have a 7 (shaft measurement) chamfered newel post, 4 moulded
rail and 14" fancy turned balusters, all to be of thoroughly seasoned black walnut. The landing
and gallery posts are to be §6” and chamfered.

The cellar stairs are to be built in a good and substantial manner.

Build and set up the steps to front and back doors with good, sound, seasoned 2" hard pine
plank. The front sieps to have a mouiding under the treads with returned nosings.

HARDWARE.

All doors are to be hung with good Joose-jointed butts of snitable sizes for their respecﬁve
places, and to have brass bolt mortise locks with brass plate and keys, and all to have pressed
glass knobs and bronzed trimmings. The front doors to be trimmed. with flush bolts and to have
a lock with night-latch and furnished with duplicate keys. The knobs on the outside to be
silvered glass with silver-plated trimmings. The knob inside is to be of pressed glass.

The front door is to be provided with a bell hung in such place as may be directed. The
pull is to be of silvered glass and te correspond with the front door knobs.

GAS PIPES.
(3as pipes are to be put into the ceiling of the parlor, sitting room, front hall and kitchen,
and in all other rooms where marked on the plans,

PLUMBING.

There is to be a 2°x 4’ cast-iron sink at the end of the pantry to be furnished with a 13"
waste-pipe, cesspool strainer, etc., to make the same complete.

There is to be a 3" copper pump at the sink to be provided with a 14" bore, 24 1b. lead pipe
to connect with the well.

There is to be a 24" force pump of the best quality, provided with a two ways faucet and
14" galvanized iron suction pipe connecting with the rain water cistern.

The rising main connecting with the cistern in the bath-room is to be 11" in diameter, 2 1bs.
per foot., . )

The bath-room is to be fitted up with bath.tub, water-closet and wash-bowl. The bath-tub
is to be of the usual size, lined with planished copper and furnished with a §" brass faucet, plug,
chain, and rose overflow.

The water-closet is to be the best pan closet with wedgwood basin, strong lead trap and 4”
iron soil pipe and is to be provided with all necessary pipes, service boxes, and other fixtures to
make the same complete in every respect.

The wash-bowl is to be 16" of marbled pattern, to have a countersunk marble top 1" thick
with moulded edge and to have 8” marble back and ends. The faucet, chain, holder and plug are

HP-105 Prototype Specifications from Bicknell’s Village Builder, 1878
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SPECIFICATIONS YOR DESIGN SHOWN ON PLATE TWO.

to be silver-plated. The wash-bowl case is to be lined up underneath with lead 4" high and to
have a suitable sized waste pipe counecting with the soil pipe.

There is to be a cistern over the bath-room of 300 gallons eapacity, lined with 51b. sheet
lead and to be provided with all the nccessary pipes, valves, ete., to make the same complete in
every respect.

The supply pipe for the bath-tub is to be §” bore, 23 1bs. per foot, for wash-bowl {” bore,
1% 1bs. per foot. The waste pipes for tab and bowl are to be 13" bore 8 1bs. per foot.  All materials
of good quality necessary to complete the plumber's work in every respect are to furnished and all
the work is to be done in o good and workmanlike manner.

PAINTING AND GLAZING.

All of the woodwork ontside and inside that is usually painted, is to have three good coats of
paint of the best quality all to be tinted as may be directed. The closet floors are to be painted.
All gutters and tinned roofs are to be painted with three good coats of paint. The blinds are to be
painted four coats of such color s may be directed. The stair rails and all hard woodwork are to
be filled and well rubbed down in oil. All hard pine work is to be puttied and well oiled.

All of the sashes are to be glazed with the best German glass, all to be well bedded, bradded
and back puttied. The front doors are to be glazed with ground glass of such pattern as may be
selected, All other glass panel doors are to have plain ground glass.

FINALLY,

It is to be nnderstood that everything necessary to the full and complete execution of the
work according to the general intent and meaning of these plans and specifications is to be
done and all materials furnished so as to complete the work in a good and workmanlike manner
whether herein particularly described or not.

HP-106 Prototype Specifications from Bicknell’s Village Builder, 1878
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CONTEMPORARY PHOTOS (CP)

The numbering sequence for these photos follows the numbers from the Lawnfield Historic Structure
Report. None of the photos in this section appeared in that report,.
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CP-107

Wallpaper in Door Pocket Between Room 106 and Room 110. This wallpaper must
date from the 1880s remodeling and was covered during the installation of the sliding
doors in 1885.



CP-108

Overall View of Room 116 Looking to South
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Former Ceramic Tile Area in Room 116

CP-109
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Detail of Ceramic Tile Area Showing Ghost of Tiles

CP-110
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Wainscot at Chimney in Room 116

CP-111
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[
Ghost of Servant Call Box in Room 116
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Servant Call Box in Room 112
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Cp-114

Nail Holes Showing Former Partition Location in Room 117
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Ghost Showing Former Placement of Cabinet in Room 117

CP-115
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CP-116

Cabinet Formerly Located at Southwest Corner of Room 117.
moulding has been coped to fit the window casing.
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Note that the top



CP-117

Wallpaper at Plumbing Enclosure in Room 108. This paper probably dates from 1880
and was covered during the installation of plumbing ca. 1885.
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Overall view of Room 214 Looking to East

CP-118
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CP-119

Holes Showing Placement of Tub and Sink in Room 214
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CP-120

-

Holes Showing Placement of Water Closet in Room 214
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nk Placement in Room 214
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Plaster Repairs Showing Former S

CP-121
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CP-122

Ghost Showing Former Water Closet Tank Location in Room 214
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CP-123
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Ghost Showing Lower Portion of Water Closet Tank. Note that the baseboard is
finished, indicating that the enclosed area was created after the completion of the original
work. Also note the light gauge pipe, the purpose for which is unknown.
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BUILDING CHRONOLOGY (BC)

The following drawings follow the numbering sequence established in the Lawnfield Historic
Structure Report. -
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